IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

)
BLUESCOPE BUILDINGS NORTH )
AMERICA, INC., )
)
Plaintiff, )
)

\A ) | Case No.
' )
AMERICAN STEEL SPAN, INC. )
d/b/a LIBERTY STEEL BUILDINGS )
)
Defendant. )
‘ )

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff BlueScope Buildings North America, Inc. (“BBNA”), for its Complaint against
defendant American Steel Span, Inc. d/b/a Liberty Steel Buildings (“Defendant”), alleges and
states as follows:

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff BlueScope Buildings North America, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with
its principal place of business located at 1540 Genessee, Kansas City, MO 64102.

2. Defendant, on information and belief, is a North Dakota corporation doing
business as Liberty Steel Buildings, with its principal place of business at 3431 4th Ave South,
Fargo, ND 58103-2222. Defendant can be served with process through its registered agent,

Wane S. Engkjer, at 3431 4th Ave South, Fargo, ND 58103-2222.
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JURISDITION AND VENUE

3. This is an action at law and in equity for trademark infringement and dilution,
unfair competition and deceptive trade practices arising under the Trademark Act of 1946, 15
U.S.C. §§ 1051 et seq. (1994) (“Lanham Act”), the Minnesota Deceptive Trade Practices Act,
Minn. Stat. § 325 D.43 ef seq., and Minnesota common law. This court has original subject
matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s federal claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1338(a), (b),
and 15 U.S.C. § 1121. This court has subject matter jurisdiction over the supplemental state
claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).

4. This court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant has
distributed or sold infringing merchandise within this State, has engaged in acts or omissions
within this State causing injury, has manufactured or distributed products used or consumed
within this State in the ordinary course of trade, or has otherwise made or established contacts
with this State sufficient to bermit the exercise of personal jurisdiction.

5. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)-(c) in that Defendant is
subject to personal jurisdiction in this District, and/or a substantial part of the acts or omissions
giving rise to these claims occurred in this District.

FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS

6. Liberty Building Systems became a division of plaintiff BBNA in a corporate
reorganization completed on January 1, 2009. Prior to that date, Liberty Building Systems, Inc.
was a Delaware éorporation with its principal place of business in Bartlett, Tennessee. BBNA
and its Liberty Building Systems division are referred to collectively herein as “Liberty Building

Systems.”
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7. Liberty Building Systems is an AISC-certified, national manufacturer of pre-
engineered steel building systems, offering its clients and customers a unique combination of
quality, service, performance and affordability.

8. Liberty Building Systems is currently, and for years has been, an industry leader
in the pre-engineered metal building industry and during that time Liberty Building Systems has
devoted its resources to branding its product and creating customer recognition and goodwill
towards the Liberty Building Systems name.

9. Liberty Building Systems has built its business by concentrating on customer
service, providing flexible and customizable solutions to address each project individually.
Liberty Building Systems’ business model relies heavily on name recognition associated with its
good business reputation thus creating goodwill among the community of contractors and
~ developers as well as generating positive word of mouth advertising by and between past,
present and future individual customers.

10.  For years, Liberty Building Systems has been providing metal building systems
and associated services across the country for uses as varied as: agricultural uses such as dairy
barns and farm storage areas; churches, commercial uses such as retail stores and office
buildings; community centers such as picnic pavilions and volunteer fire departments;
manufacturing and industrial facilities; self-storage areas; warehouse and distribution centers;
airplane hangars; and residential buildings such as sheds, workshops and garages. All of Liberty
Building Systems' buildings are marketed, offered, sold, contracted, built and warranted in
conjunction with the Liberty Building Systems name and trademark.

11.  Liberty Building Systems also sells a full line of accessories, including: doors,

windows, louvers, ridge vents, gutters and downspouts, skylights, wall-lights, insulation systems,
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and interior liners. Again, all of Liberty Building Systems' accessories are marketed, offered and
sold using the Liberty Building Systems name and trademark.

12.  Plaintiff’'s LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark is well known and
famous. Liberty Building Systems’ sales and marketing are national in scobe and Liberty
Building Systems has used this mark in connection with its advertising activities, brand
awareness events, and to promote its image.

13.  For many years, Liberty Building Systems has extensively and continuously used
and promoted LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS in connection with its buéiness. In recent
years, annual sales of products sold have exceeded millions of dollars within the United States.
| Further, because of the nature of its business, Liberty Building Systems’ products display the
LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark while acting as a perpetual advertisement to
patrons and occupants of the building. Accordingly, the LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS
trademark has achieved national fame and secondary meaning.

14.  Asaresult of its extensive and dedicated use and continuous promotion of its
LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark, Liberty Building Systems has built up and now
owns valuable gobdwill that is symbolized by its trademark. Liberty Building Systems’ efforts
have been successful and the relevant purchasing public has come to associate the LIBERTY
BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark with Liberty Building Systems.

DEFENDANT’S UNLAWFUL ACTIVITIES

"15.  On information and belief, Defendant is designing, manufacturing, distributing,

offering for sale and selling goods under the name L berty Steel Buildings; a name that is a
confusingly similar imitation of Plaintiff’'s LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS.
16.  Defendant is selling metal buildings and associated contracting services in direct

competition with the Plaintiff using a business name, Liberty Steel Buildings, deliberately
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designed to invoke and take advantage of the goodwill and business reputation associated with
Plaintiff’s LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark.

17.  Defendant’s use of a confusingly similar name and trademark has already created
actual confusion known to Plaintiff.

18.  Defendant's use of "LIBERTY " and "LIBERTY STEEL BUILDINGS" or other
confusingly similar imitations of Plaintiff’s LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS are likely to
continue to deceive, confuse and mislead prospective purchasers into believing that the
Defendant is an authorized dealer for Liberty Building Systems, or is associated with, authorized
by, sponsored by, or in some other manner affiliated with Plaintiff, which they are not. The
actual and continued likelihood of confusion, mistake and deception created by Defendant's
misappropriation of Plaintiff’s trademark are causing irreparable harm to the goodwill
symbolized by the LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark as well as the reputation for
quality, customer service, reliability and experience that it embodies.

19.  On information and belief, Defendant knowingly, willfully, intentionally and
maliciously adopted and continues to use a confusingly similar imitation of Plaintiff’s LIBERTY
BUILDING SYSTEMS name and trademark.

COUNT1
(Federal Unfair Competition)

20.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1-19.

21.  Defendant's use of confusingly similar imitations of Plaintiff’s LIBERTY
BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark has and will continue to cause confusion, deception, and
mistake by creating the false and misleading impression that Defendant's goods are
manufactured or distributed by Plaintiff, or associated with, sponsored by, or connected with

Plaintiff, or have the consent, endorsement or approval of Plaintiff.
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22. Defendant has made false representations, false descriptions; and false
designations of origin of its goods in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a), and Defendant's activities
have caused and, unless enjoined by this Court, will continue to cause a likelihood of confusion
and deception of members of the trade and public, and, additionally, cause irreparable injury to
Plaintiff’s goodwill and reputation as symbolized by the LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS
trademark, for which Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law.

23.  Defendant's actions demonstrate an intentional, willful, and malicious intent to
trade on the goodwill associated with Plaintiff’s trademark.

24.  Defendant's conduct has caused, and is likely to continue causing, substantial
injury to the public and to Plaintiff, and Plaintiff is entitled to injunctive relief and to recover
Defendant's profits, actual damages, enhanced profits and damages, costs, and reasonable
attorneys’ fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 1125(a), 1116 and 1117.

COUNT 11
(Federal Trademark Dilution)

25.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1 -
24.

26.  Plaintiff has extensively and continuously promoted and used the LIBERTY
BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark in the United States and the trademark has thereby become a
famous and well-known symbol of Plaintiff’s goods and services.

27.  Defendant is making commercial use in commerce of marks that dilute and are
likely to dilute the distinctiveness of Plaintiff’s LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark by
eroding the public’s exclusive identification of this famous mark with Plaintiff, by tarnishing,

disparaging and degrading the positive associations and prestigious connotations of the
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trademark, and by otherwise lessening the capacity of the trademark to identify and distinguish
Plaintiff’s goods and services.

28. Defendant's actions demonstrate an intentional, willful, and malicious intent to
trade on the goodwill associated with Plaintiff’s LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark
and to cause dilution of the marks and cause irreparable injury to Plaintiff.

29.  Defendant has caused and will continue to cause irreparable injury to Plaintiff’s
goodwill and business reputation, and dilution of the distinctiveness and value of Plaintiff’s
famous and distinctive LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark in violation of 15 U.S.C. §
1125(c), and Plaintiff therefore is entitled to injunctive relief and to Defendant's profits, actual
damages, enhanced profits and damages, costs, and reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to 15
U.S.C. §§ 1125(c), 1116 and 1117.

COUNT 11
(State Trademark Dilution)

30.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 - 29.

31.  Plaintiff has extensively and continuously promoted and used the LIBERTY
BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark and it has become distinctive, famous and well-known
symbols of Plainftiff s goods and services.

32.  Defendant’s unauthorized use of confusingly similar imitations of Plaintiff’s
trademark dilutes and is likely to continue to dilute the distinctiveness of Plaintiff’s trademark by
eroding the public’s exclusive identification of this famous mark with Plaintiff, and tarnishing

and degrading the positive associations and prestigious connotations of the trademark.
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33. Defendant's actions demonstrate an intentional, willful, and malicious intent to
trade on the goodwill associated with Plaintiff’s LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark
and to cause dilution of the marks and cause irreparable injury to Plaintiff.

34.  Defendant is causing and will continue to cause irreparable injury to Plaintiff’s
goodwill and business reputation, and dilution of the distinctiveness and value of Plaintiff’s
famous and distinctive trademark in violation of Minn. Stat. § 333.285, and Plaintiff therefore is
entitled to injunctive relief, Defendant’s profits, actual damages and costs, as well as, if
appropriate, enhanced profits and damages and reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to Minn. Stat.
§§ 333.285 and 333.29.

COUNT 1V
(State Deceptive Trade Practices)

35.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 - 34.

36. 7 Defendant's use of confusingly similar imitations of Plaintiff’s LIBERTY
BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark has and will continue to cause confusion, mistake, deception
and misunderstanding by creating the false and misleading impression that Defendant's goods are
manufactured or distributed by Plaintiff, or affiliated with, sponsored by, connected with or
associated with Plaintiff, or have the consent, endorsement, sponsorship, approval or certification
of Plaintiff.

37. Defendant's actions demonstrate an intentional, willful, and malicious intent to
trade on the goodwill associated with Plaintiff’s trademark.

| 38. Defendant's conduct has caused, and is likely to continue causing, substantial

injury to the public and to Plaintiff, and Plaintiff is entitled to injunctive relief and to recover
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Defendant's profits, actual damages, costs, and reasonable attorney fees pursuant to Minn. Stat.
§§ 325D.44 and 325D.45.
COUNT V
(Common Law Trademark Infringement, Dilution and Unfair Competition)

39.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in
paragraphs 1 - 38.

40.  Defendant’s acts constitute common law trademark infringement and unfair
competition and have created and will continue to create a likelihood of confusion to the
irreparable injury of Plaintiff as well as irreparable dilution of an injui'y to Plaintiff’s trademark
unless restrained by this Court. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law for this injury.

42.  On information and belief, Defendant acted with full knowledge of Plaintiff’s use
of, and statutory and common law rights to, the LIBERTY BUILDING SYSTEMS trademark
and trade name and without regard to the likelihood of confusion of the public or likelihood of
dilution created by Defendant’s activities.

43, Defendant’s actions demonstrate an intentional, willful, and malicious intent to
trade on the goodwill associated with Plaintiff’s trademark to the great and irreparable injury of
Plaintiff.

44, Aé a result of Defendant’s acts, Plaintiff has been damaged in an amount not as
yet determined or ascertainéble. At a minimum, however, Plaintiff is entitled to injunctive relief,
to an accounting of Defendant’s profits, to damages, and to costs.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that:
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1. Defendant and all its agents, officers, employees, representatives, successors,
assigns, attorneys and all other persons and entities acting for, with, by, through, or under
authority from Defendant, or in concert or participation with Defendant, and each of them, be
enjoined permanently, from:

A. Using "Liberty" alone or in conjunction with LIBERTY BUILDING
SYSTEMS, or any other copy, reproduction, or colorable imitation or simulation of Plaintiff’s
marks or trade name, including but not limited to Liberty Steel Buildings, in connection with
Defendant's goods or services;

B. Using any trademark, service mark, name, logo, design, character or
source designation of any kind on or in connection with Defendant's goods or services that is a
copy, reproduction, colorable imitation, or simulation of or confusingly similar to, or in any way
similar to the trademarks, service marks, trade dress, names, or logos of Plaintiff;

C. Using any trademark, service mark, name, logo, design, character, or
source designation of any kind on or in connection with Defendant's goods or services that is
likely to cause confusion, mistake, deception, or public misunderstanding that such goods or
services are produced or provided by Plaintiff, or are sponsored by, affiliated with, or authorized
by or in any way connected or related to Plaintiff;

D. Using any trademark, service mark, name, logo, design, character, or
source designation of any kind on or in connection with Defendant's goods or services that
dilutes or is likely to dilute the distinctiveness of the trademarks, service marks, trade dress,
names, or logos of Plaintiff;

E. Using any trademark, service mark, name, logo, design, character, or
source designation of any kind on or in connection with Defendant’s goods or services that

defames or unlawfully disparages Plaintiff; and
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